FILED February 11, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

91339-1 No. (Court of Appeals No. 70241-6-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF BOTHELL,

Respondent,

FEB 2 6 2015 CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON P

ERIC SCOTT LEVINE,

v.

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ELAINE L. WINTERS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Eric Scott Levine seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Levine seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming his Bothell Municipal Court conviction for assault in the fourth degree. <u>State v. Eric S. Levine</u>, No. 70241-6-I. A copy of the decision dated January 12, 2015, is attached as an appendix.

C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

The Sixth Amendment confrontation clause prohibits the introduction of testimonial hearsay unless the declarant is unavailable to testify and the defendant had the prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. Giovanna Bustos did not testify at Eric Levine's trial for fourth degree assault, but the trial court permitted a Bothell police officer to testify that Ms. Bustos told him that Mr. Levine had assaulted her earlier that afternoon. An objective evaluation of the circumstances of the officer's encounter with Ms. Bustos and the statements and actions of both Ms. Bustos and the officer demonstrate that the primary purpose of the interview was not to address an on-going emergency. Did the introduction of Ms. Bustos's testimonial out-of-court statements violate Mr. Levine's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Giovanna Bustos called Eric Levine and asked if she could stay at his house to recover after spending several days partying with friends. CP 256-57.¹ The two had known each other for several years and remained friends after a brief intimate relationship ended at least two years earlier. CP 269-70, 271-72. Mr. Levine would occasionally let Ms. Bustos stay at his house if she had nowhere to go, but he did give her a key to his home. CP 112-13, 269, 271.

Mr. Levine told Ms. Bustos she could not stay at his house, and he did not pick up the telephone when she called him again. CP 258. Ms. Bustos left a nonsensical message accusing Mr. Levine of following her breath and cheating with a green-eyed girl on the computer.² CP 259.

Later that day when he finished taking a shower, Mr. Levine found Ms. Bustos inside his home. CP 259. She was "out of her mind" and her statements did not make sense. CP 259-60, 274-75. Mr.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings of Mr. Levine's Bothell Municipal Court jury trial is found at CP 149-321

 $^{^2}$ The municipal court excluded the taped message. CP 258-59. A transcript is found at CP 106.

Levine again told Ms. Bustos that she could not stay at his house. CP 260. After some time, Ms. Bustos agreed to leave when Mr. Levine offered her a ride. CP 260-61.

As they left Mr. Levine's house, Ms. Bustos was angry and screaming at Mr. Levine so loudly that he could not safely concentrate on driving. CP 262-63. Mr. Levine pulled onto the side of the road and asked Ms. Bustos to get out. CP 263. Ms. Bustos got out of the pickup truck only after Mr. Levine himself exited and activated the alarm. CP 263-64. Ms. Bustos then ran in the direction of a nearby house, and Mr. Levine walked home, which he estimated was about a quarter mile from where he stopped. CP 264-66.

Ms. Bustos went to home of Carol Jean Cornelius and her husband and asked for help. CP 206, 210. Mrs. Cornelius assured Ms. Bustos that she was safe and called 911. CP 207, 210. One of Mr. Cornelius's crewmembers went to the front of the house and watched until aid arrived. CP 211-12.

Several Bothell police officers and medics responded to the 911 call. CP 225, 230. Police Officer John Lawson and another officer went to Mrs. Cornelius's residence, and two others went to Mr.

Levine's house and placed him under arrest. CP 225-26, 229, 236-37, 266.

Mr. Levine was charged by amended complaint in Bothell Municipal Court with fourth degree assault. CP 13. Ms. Bustos did not appear at his jury trial.³ CP 152. The municipal court ruled that the admission of Ms. Bustos's statements to Officer Lawson would not violate Mr. Levine's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him. CP 186-87. The court reasoned that Ms. Bustos's initial statements to the officer were not testimonial because the officer was trying to determine if there was an emergency, what he needed to do, and who he needed to arrest. CP 186-87.

At trial, Ms. Cornelius testified that a young lady she did not know ran up to her house one August afternoon screaming "help me." CP 206, 210. The woman was shaking, appeared frightened, and had a little bit of blood in her ear and a scratch or blood on her neck. CP 207. The woman told Mrs. Cornelius that she was hit in the ear. <u>Id</u>. Mrs. Cornelius got the impression that the woman had either jumped or been pushed out of a car. <u>Id</u>. Mrs. Cornelius called 911 and related what the

³ A material witness warrant was issued but never served. CP 32, 162.

woman told her, adding the woman was "kind [of] hysterical." CP 207-08.

Officer Lawson testified that police dispatch related the contents of the 911 call to him prior to his arrival at the Cornelius residence. CP 224. According to the officer, dispatch informed him that Ms. Bustos claimed her ex-boyfriend hit her, choked her, and threatened to kill her at the residence where they both lived. <u>Id</u>.

When Officer Lawson arrived at the Corneliuses' home, he contacted Ms. Bustos in order to determine if a crime had occurred. CP 225-26, 229. He asked Ms. Bustos what happened, and she stated that her ex-boyfriend came home at 1:00 p.m. and got angry when she asked what he was doing on the computer. CP 230. She said he yelled at her, struck her, placed his hands around her neck, and pressed on her eyes with his thumbs. CP 230-31, 242. She also claimed he threatened to kill her and would certainly kill her if she called the police. CP 237. Officer Lawson asked Ms. Bustos if Eric Levine was the ex-boyfriend, and she confirmed that he was. CP 231.

Officer Lawson observed that Ms. Bustos's neck was red. CP 233. Bothell Fire Department medics determined that Ms. Bustos did not need any immediate medical attention. CP 242.

Mr. Levine was convicted of fourth degree assault, and the jury found by special verdict that he and Ms. Bustos were members of the same household. CP 47-48, 325. Mr. Levine appealed to the King County Superior Court where he argued, inter alia, that his constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him was violated by the use of Ms. Bustos's out-of-court statements at trial. CP 4, 138-45, 361-64. His conviction was affirmed. CP 365. The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review to address only the Confrontation Clause issue and affirmed the Superior Court. Slip Op. at 1.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The admission of Ms. Bustos's out-of-court statements to the investigating police officer violated Mr. Levine's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him.

At Eric Levine's trial for fourth degree assault, the City of Bothell was permitted to elicit testimony from a police officer that Giovanna Bustos told him that Mr. Levine struck her, choked her, and pushed his thumbs into her eyes. Ms. Bustos did not testify, and the officer saw only minor abrasions on her neck. Ms. Bustos was not in danger at time the officer questioned her, but the Court of Appeals held that Ms. Bustos's statements were not testimonial because they were elicited in order to respond to an on-going emergency. The Court of Appeals decision affirming Mr. Levine's conviction misapplies United States Supreme Court precedent and opinions from this Court interpreting the Sixth Amendment confrontation clause. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

"Cross-examination is the principal means by which the believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested." <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974); <u>accord Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 61, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004); <u>State v. Darden</u>, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). The Sixth Amendment provides that "in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him."⁴ U.S. Const. amend. VI. A witness's testimony against a defendant is thus inadmissible unless the witness appears at trial or, if the witness is unavailable, the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination. <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 68.

The <u>Crawford</u> Court limited the protection of the Confrontation Clause to "testimonial" statements. <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 68. While

⁴ This "bedrock procedural guarantee" applies to the States through the Fourteenth Amendment. <u>Crawford</u>, 541 U.S. at 42 (citing <u>Pointer v. Texas</u>, 380 U.S. 400, 403, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1965)).

the court declined to provide a comprehensive definition of the term "testimonial," it held that it includes statements made as the result of police interrogation. <u>Id</u>. at 52, 68. The court subsequently excluded interrogation by law enforcement officers where the "primary purpose" of the interrogation was to enable the police to address an on-going emergency. <u>Michigan v. Bryant</u>, 562 U.S. 344, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 1156, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011); <u>Davis v. Washington</u>, 547 U.S. 813, 822, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006).

Determining the primary purpose of police questioning is an objective inquiry based upon the circumstances of the encounter and the statements and actions of the police and declarant. <u>Bryant</u>, 131 S. Ct. at 1156. "[T]he relevant inquiry is . . . the purpose that reasonable participants would have had, as ascertained from the individuals' statements and actions and the circumstances in which the encounter occurred." <u>Id</u>.

Based upon <u>Davis</u>, this Court identified four factors to utilize in determining the primary purpose of the police interrogation: (1) whether the speaker was addressing events as they were occurring, requiring police assistance, or describing past events, (2) whether the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency, (3) whether the questions

and answers, viewed objectively, demonstrate that the statements were necessary to resolve a present emergency or establish what happened in the past, and (4) the level of formality of the interrogation. <u>State v.</u> <u>Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d 409, 418-19, 209 P.3d 479 (2009) (citing <u>Davis</u>, 547 U.S. at 827)); <u>State v. Ohlson</u>, 162 Wn.2d 1, 15, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007); <u>accord State v. Beadle</u>, 173 Wn.2d 97, 110, 265 P.3d 863 (2011).

In <u>Koslowski</u>, police officers quickly responded to Ms. Alvarez's home and found her still on the telephone with a 911 operator. <u>Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 414. Ms. Alvarez was quite upset, and she showed the officers where she had been up tied and forced to lie on the floor. <u>Id</u>. In response to the officers" questions, Ms. Alvarez explained that three men had approached her as she unloaded her groceries, forced her into her house with a possible gun, tied her up, and stolen her property. <u>Id</u>. at 415.

After reviewing the <u>Davis</u> factors, the <u>Koslowski</u> Court ruled that Ms. Alvarez's statements to the police were testimonial and thus inadmissible. <u>Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 430-31. As in Mr. Levine's case, Ms. Alvarez was speaking about past events, not events that were currently happening, even though they were fairly recent. <u>Id</u>. at 422.

Ms. Alvarez was safe, and there was no reason to believe the men would return to harm her. <u>Id</u>. A reasonable listener would also understand that Ms. Alvarez was not facing an ongoing emergency. <u>Id</u>. at 423. Her responses to the police officers' inquiry also yielded testimonial information, and the mere fact that the suspects were still at large and possibly armed was not sufficient to find the statements nontestimonial. Id. at 487-89. Finally, although the interrogation was not formal due to Ms. Alvarez's emotional state, "a certain level of formality occurs whenever police engage in a question-answer sequence with a witness." <u>Id</u>. at 429.

The Court of Appeals' review of the factors in Mr. Levine's case reveals a conflict with <u>Koslowski</u> and <u>Bryant</u>. First, Ms. Bustos told Office Lawson about a past event as did the victim in <u>Koslowski</u>. The Court of Appeals, however, concluded that the timing of Ms. Bustos's statements to Officer Lawson were "essentially contemporaneous" with the assault she described, claiming that any statement made by a victim within minutes of an assault "may be considered contemporaneous with the described events" Slip Op. at 7-8.

The cited authority by the Court of Appeals for this proposition is its own opinion in State v. Reed, 168 Wn. App. 553, 566, 278 P.3d 203, rev. denied, 176 Wn.2d 1009 (2012). The Reed Court, however, was addressing 911 calls and the declarant's spontaneous statements to a police officer who arrived to help. The caller first reported that her boyfriend was choking and scratching her, had punched her in the lip, and continued to threaten her, A man could be heard shouting angrily in the background, and the call terminated before the 911 dispatcher could determine the caller's location. Reed, 168 Wn. App. at 559. The woman called 911 a few hours later and said her boyfriend "just beat me up right now" while they were in a car and that he left her by the side of the road where she was alone and her nose was still bleeding. Id. at 559-60, 566. When an officer arrived, she described what happened to her without prompting. Id. at 560. The declarant was "alone and injured and her assailant was still at large." Id. at 567.

Reed does not supply support for the Court of Appeals broad assertion that close in time is always the same as contemporaneous. Here, any assault apparently occurred at Mr. Levine's house, and Ms. Bustos was safe at a home where the owners and police were protecting her.

In addition, the record does not support the Court of Appeals conclusion that Ms. Bustos's statements to the officer occurred "within minutes" of the assault. Slip Op. at 8. Ms. Bustos related that she was assaulted sometime after 1:00 p.m., but Officer Lawson did not arrive at the Cornelius residence until at least 1:40. CP 226, 230. Ms. Bustos was relating past facts, not relating events as they were occurring, and the Court of Appeals analysis is incorrect.

The Court of Appeals interpretation of the second <u>Davis</u> factor – whether the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency – is in conflict with both <u>Koslowski</u> and <u>Bryant</u>. Ms. Bustos was not in danger at the time she was questioned by Officer Lawson. The statements were not made at the scene of the crime, but at Mrs. Cornelius's residence several blocks away. Ms. Cornelius told Ms. Bustos that she was safe, and Mr. and Mrs. Cornelius even had one of their crewmen stand at the end of the road to further protect her. CP 211-12. He waited until the aid car arrived and did not see anyone following Ms. Bustos. CP 212. In addition, two police officers and medics from the Bothell Fire Department were on the scene, and another two police officers went to Mr. Levine's residence. CP 225, 226, 230. Ms. Bustos even told the officer that she did not believe Mr. Levine was in the area. CP 225.

The Court of Appeals also failed to consider Ms. Bustos's medical condition as part of its analysis, as required by <u>Bryant</u>. <u>Bryant</u>, 131 S. Ct. at 1159. The police officer observed Ms. Bustos had only abrasions, not cuts. CP 233. Medics were already on the scene, but the officer photographed Ms. Bustos to document any injuries before allowing the medics to see her. CP 231-33. When the medics did see Ms. Bustos, they determined she did not require any immediate medical attention. CP 234, 242. Thus, there was no medical emergency.

The third factor utilized in <u>Koslowski</u> is whether the interrogation itself demonstrate that the statements were necessary to resolve a present emergency or establish what happened in the past. <u>Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 418. Officer Lawson asked Ms. Bustos what happened and she responded. CP 230. The record does not show what other questions were asked and how Ms. Bustos answered, but Officer Lawson followed up with at least one specific question to confirm the information he had from dispatch concerning Mr. Levine's identity as the alleged perpetrator. CP 231.

In reviewing the fourth factor, the Court of Appeals concluded that the interrogation in this case lacked formality because the officer asked Ms. Bustos what happened. Slip Op. at 9. The interrogation,

however, did not occur in an exposed public area, but in the calm of Mr. and Mrs. Cornelius's protected yard. The homeowner and at least one of their employees, two police officers, and fire department medics were present, so the setting was safe. The level of formality was akin to that of many interrogations conducted by police officers in non-emergency situations. <u>See Koslowski</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 428.

The Court of Appeals determination that Ms. Bustos's statements to Officer Lawson were not testimonial is also in conflict with <u>Bryant</u> and <u>Koslowski</u> because the Court of Appeals looked at Officer Lawson's subjective belief. In determining that Officer Lawson was not investigating a past crime, the Court of Appeals cited his testimony that he was trying to determine what had happened and "if any action needed to be taken."⁵ Slip Op. at 8 (emphasis omitted); CP 225-26. The determination of whether a law enforcement office is engaged in addressing an on-going emergency, however, is not based upon the officer's subjective beliefs. Instead, the reviewing court must look objectively at the officer's questions and the declarant's answers. <u>Bryant</u>, 131 S. Ct. at 1160.

⁵ The officer also testified that he was there both to determine "if I had a crime, what type of crime I would be investigating," and to get medical attention for Ms. Bustos if needed. CP 230.

A statement to the police made after an emergency is over is a testimonial statement. <u>Davis</u>, 547 U.S. at 822; <u>State v. Mason</u>, 160 Wn.2d 910, 920, 162 P.3d 396 (2007). In determining that Ms. Bustos's statements to the police were not testimonial, the Court of Appeals analysis conflicts with decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court interpreting the Sixth Amendment, notably <u>Bryant</u> and <u>Koslowski</u>. Mr. Levine asks this Court to accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

F. CONCLUSION

Eric Levine asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming his conviction for fourth degree assault. DATED this $\underline{11^{\mu}}$ day of February 2015.