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

emergency, not to assist in a later court proceeding: 

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the 
course of police interrogation under circumstances 
objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the 
interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an 
ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the 
circumstances objectively indicate that there is no 
such ongoing emergency, and that the primary 
purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove 
past events potentially relevant to later criminal 
prosecution. 

Davis, 547 U.S. at 822. Accordingly, non-testimonial statements 

made during an ongoing emergency fall outside the scope of the 

Confrontation Clause entirely. /d. 

This Court then applied these principles in State v. Ohlson, 

162 Wn.2d 1, 168 P .3d 1273 (2007). In further defining the test for 

determining whether the primary purpose of an interrogation is to 

meet an ongoing emergency, the Ohlson court identified four 

factors that courts should consider: 1) the timing of the statements; 

2) the level of harm threatened; 3) the level of need for the 

information; and 4) the formality or lack of formality of the 

questioning. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d at 15. Based on these factors, 

the court concluded that statements that the victim had made to the 
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first officer on the scene following a serious assault with racial 

overtones were not testimonial; thus, they were admissible as 

excited utterances despite the victim's failure to testify at trial. /d. at 

16-19. In so holding, the Court found it significant that the assailant 

was still at large when the statements were made, and therefore, 

the threat posed was greater than it would have been otherwise. 

/d. 

This Court again attempted to clarify what constitutes a 

testimonial statement for purposes of the federal Confrontation 

Clause in State v. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409, 209 P.3d 479 (2009). 

In Koslowski, the victim of a home-invasion robbery made 

statements in response to questioning by the police officers who 

responded to her home in response to her 911 call after the crime. 

She made some statements initially to the first officer who arrived, 

and then made far more detailed statements several minutes later 

when a second officer arrived. Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 414-15. 

The victim died prior to trial, so the issue was whether her 

statements were testimonial such that they were admitted in 

violation of the Confrontation Clause in the absence of cross

examination. 

In considering the issue, the Koslowski court expanded on 
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the factors from Davis, as utilized in Ohlson, putting forward that 

courts should consider in distinguishing testimonial statements from 

statements made for the primary purpose of enabling a response to 

an ongoing emergency: 

(1) Was the speaker speaking about current events 
as they were actually occurring, requiring police 
assistance, or was he or she describing past events? 
The amount of time that has elapsed (if any) is 
relevant. (2) Would a "reasonable listener" conclude 
that the speaker was facing an ongoing emergency 
that required help? A plain call for help against a 
bona fide physical threat is a clear example where a 
reasonable listener would recognize that the speaker 
was facing such an emergency. (3) What was the 
nature of what was asked and answered? Do the 
questions and answers show, when viewed 
objectively, that the elicited statements were 
necessary to resolve the present emergency or do 
they show, instead, what had happened in the past? 
For example, a 911 operator's effort to establish the 
identity of an assailant's name so that officers might 
know whether they would be encountering a violent 
felon would indicate that the elicited statements were 
nontestimonial. (4) What was the level of formality of 
the interrogation? The greater the formality, the more 
likely the statement was testimonial. For example, 
was the caller frantic and in an environment that was 
not tranquil or safe? 

Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 418-19 (footnote and citation omitted). In 

summary, the timing of the statements, the nature of the questions 

and answers, the formality of the questioning (or lack thereof), and 

whether an objective listener would interpret the statements as 
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requests for immediate assistance are all relevant in determining 

whether statements are testimonial under Crawford and Davis. 

In Koslowski, the court ultimately determined that the victim's 

statements were testimonial, because they were made in response 

to police questioning after the danger had passed and there was no 

longer an ongoing emergency or a need for immediate assistance. 

Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 421-22. Noteworthy is that in Koslowski, 

the suspect tied the victim and left her in her home. The victim did 

not flee from Koslowski. /d. 

More recently, this Court considered whether a recording of 

a 911 call was admissible under both the federal and state 

confrontation clauses in State v. Pugh, 167 Wn.2d 825, 255 P.3d 

892 (2009). In Pugh, the victim called 911 to report that the 

defendant had just assaulted her, that he was no longer in the 

house, and, in response to the operator's questions, she provided a 

description of the defendant. Pugh, 167 Wn.2d at 829. After a brief 

analysis of the "ongoing emergency" analysis from Davis, the Pugh 

court concluded that the 911 call was clearly not testimonial 

because it was a request for immediate assistance, and thus, that 

the call was properly admitted under the federal Confrontation 

Clause. Pugh, 167 Wn.2d at 831-34. 
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In addition, the Pugh court considered whether the victim's 

911 call was admissible under article I, section 22 of the 

Washington Constitution. 1 In conducting this analysis, the court 

discussed the historical underpinnings of the "res gestae" exception 

to the requirement for cross-examination, which existed when the 

state constitution was ratified, and held that the admission of 

"res gestae" statements without cross-examination or a showing 

that the declarant was unavailable did not violate the state 

Confrontation Clause. /d. at 834-43. 

As this Court explained, "res gestae" statements relate to the 

main event at issue, are natural declarations growing out of the 

event, are statements of fact rather than opinion, are spontaneous 

or instinctive rather than premeditated, and are made by a 

participant or witness to the event. /d. at 839 (citing Beck v. Dye, 

200 Wn. 1, 9-10, 92 P.2d 1113 (1939)). As such, the "res gestae" 

doctrine "evolved into several present day hearsay exceptions," 

including present sense impressions and excited utterances. Pugh, 

167 Wn.2d at 839. Ultimately, the court held that the victim's 911 

call was properly admitted against the defendant at trial because it 

1 Although Levine's claim on appeal is made solely under the Sixth Amendment 
of the federal constitution, the court's state constitutional analysis in Pugh is 
instructive. 
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consisted of traditional res gestae statements. /d. at 843. 

Even more recently, the United States Supreme Court 

performed further analysis regarding the Confrontation Clause in 

Michigan v. Bryant, 562 U.S. 344, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 179 L. Ed. 2d 

93 (2011 ). Unlike Crawford, which involved a formal police 

interrogation, and unlike Davis, which involved a 911 call, Bryant 

concerned statements made by a shooting victim to the first officers 

to arrive on the scene where the victim was found bleeding in a 

parking lot. In response to questioning by the officers, the victim 

identified the shooter and told them where and how the shooting 

had occurred. The victim later died, and his statements were 

admitted at the defendant's murder trial. Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1150. 

The Court observed that in resolving the question of whether 

statements to police are testimonial, the "primary purpose of the 

interrogation" must be objectively ascertained, and that the 

existence of an ongoing emergency "is among the most important 

circumstances" in making that determination. Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 

1156-57. The Court further observed that "the prospect of 

fabrication in statements given for the primary purpose of resolving 

that emergency is presumably significantly diminished," and that 

"[t]his logic is not unlike that justifying the excited utterance 
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exception in hearsay law." /d. at 1157. The Court recognized that 

the question of whether an emergency exists "is a highly context

dependent inquiry," and that factors such as whether the suspect is 

still at large, whether the victim is injured, whether weapons are 

involved, and whether there may be a threat to the public or the 

officers themselves must all be taken into consideration. /d. at 

1158-59. 

Further, the Court emphasized that the level of formality of 

the questioning is an important consideration, and that a lack of 

formality often signals that the statements at issue are not 

testimonial. /d. at 1160. Significantly, the Court recognized that the 

officers' questioning of the shooting victim "occurred in an exposed, 

public area, prior to the arrival of emergency medical services, and 

in a disorganized fashion." /d. After examining all relevant factors, 

the Court concluded that there was an emergency, and that the 

victim's statements were the product of questioning designed to 

assist the officers in responding to that emergency. As such, the 

statements were not testimonial, and their admission did not violate 

the Sixth Amendment. /d. at 1166-67. 

Finally, in State v. Reed, 168 Wn.App. 533, 278 P.3d 203, 

rev. denied, 176 Wn.2d 1009 (2012), the court ruled that a victim's 
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statements made during 911 calls, as well as her initial statements 

to the responding officer, were not testimonial, and did not violate 

the confrontation clause. /d. 

In Reed, the victim made two different calls to 911. During 

the second call, the court acknowledged that the victim, Ta, was 

describing Reed's actions, which had occurred in the recent past. 

Reed at 566. The court pointed out that when statements are made 

"within minutes of the assault," these statements are to be 

considered as "contemporaneous with the events described." Reed, 

quoting Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d at 17. 

Reed argued that because Ta had told the 911 operator that 

Reed had left the area, no possible ongoing emergency existed. 

This argument was rejected and this court specifically noted the 

presence of an ongoing emergency should be assessed "from the 

perspective of whether there was a continuing threat to [the victim]." 

/d. at 567. A critical part of the holding is this court's recognition that 

the departure of a domestic violence assailant does not eliminate a 

potential threat. Reed at 567, quoting Bryant, 131 S.Ct. at 1158. 

(Emphasis mine). 

The court specifically emphasized that Ta's assailant was 

still at large, that Reed was in a vehicle and highly mobile, and 
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could have returned to the scene at any time. Even though Reed 

may not have posed a public threat, he still posed a legitimate 

threat to Ta. Reed at 568. 

The responding officer arrived approximately 6 minutes after 

Ta's 911 call. Taranto the officer and told him that she had been 

attacked. The initial statements were not subject to the 

confrontation clause and were admissible as they were made to 

secure police protection. This court held that the Officer's arrival 

may have "temporarily eliminated the threat that Reed might return 

and do further harm to Ta, this protection was contingent upon his 

continued presence at the scene." Reed at 570. 

After an objective evaluation of the situation and 

circumstances, the court conducted a thorough analysis involving 

the four relevant factors set forth in Koslowski and determined the 

statements were admissible. 2 

Here, Officer Lawson arrived within 5 to 6 minutes of the 911 

call. CP 226. Ms. Cornelius had told 911 that a girl had come 

running to her door and had either been thrown or had fallen from a 

vehicle. CP 207-208. Ms. Cornelius also described injuries to Ms. 

2 Ta made statements to two different officers after the emergency had been 
resolved and these statements were properly determined to be testimonial and 
were inadmissible. 
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Bustos. CP 2-7-208. Bustos reported that she had been hit, 

choked, and that the assailant had threatened to kill her. CP 224. 

Levine asserts that the Court of Appeals erred in its finding 

that Bustos's statement occurred "within minutes" of the assault. 

Petitioner's Brief at 12. However, when viewed objectively, the 

record does support this proposition. As noted by the Court of 

Appeals, Officer Lawson arrived within 6 minutes of being 

dispatched, Bustos was hysterical, had fresh injuries, and had 

either jumped or been forced from a vehicle. Slip Op. at 8. This is 

enough to conclude that Officer Lawson arrived within minutes of 

the event. Further, there is no requirement of showing that the 

assault had occurred moments prior, it simply must be showed that 

the incident occurred in the recent past. Reed at 566. 

The contention that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the 

second Davis factor regarding the determination of an ongoing 

emergency is also without merit. Petitioner's Brief at 12. "Whether 

an emergency exists and is ongoing is a highly context-dependent 

inquiry." Bryant, 131 S.Ct. at 1158. "[T]he relevant inquiry is not the 

subjective or actual purpose of the individuals involved in a 

particular encounter, but rather the purpose that reasonable 

participants would have had, as ascertained from the individuals' 
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statements and actions and the circumstances in which the 

encounter occurred." Bryant, 131 S.Ct. at 1156. 

Upon arrival, Officer Lawson noted that Bustos had visible 

injuries consistent with the 911 call. Bustos was hysterical and 

crying, had a difficult time catching her breath, and was quite upset 

and scared. At this time, not knowing what the situation was, or 

whether it was safe at the location, Officer Lawson kept aid from 

entering the scene. CP 229-230. 

Officer Lawson asked Bustos what happened, and 

immediately was told of the assault and the identity of the assailant. 

Part of Bustos's initial statement was that Levine had threatened to 

kill her, and that if she called the police, he would most certainly do 

so. CP 230-231, 237. 

The present facts are on point with the facts this court 

considered in Reed. In both cases the victims had exited a vehicle 

and were in areas that were not inherently safe. Both victims were 

extremely fearful and both had injuries visible to the responding 

officers. In both cases, the assailant had fled in a vehicle, was 

highly mobile, and was still at large. Add to the Reed facts that 

Bustos was afraid Levine was going to follow her down the drive 

and that he had threatened to kill Bustos if she called police. Under 
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the Reed analysis, Bustos's statements to Officer Lawson are non

testimonial because they are an effort to inform police of an 

emergency and ensure a continued police presence to provide 

assistance. Reed at 570. 

Levine attempts to distinguish this case from Bryant and 

equate it to Kowslowski by relying on the fact that Ms. Cornelius 

told Bustos she was safe. Petition for review at 12. They further 

point out that Mr. Cornelius waited until the aid car arrived. 

Petitioner's Brief at 12. However this argument is also without merit. 

The fact that a civilian told Bustos she was safe does not make it 

so. Further, the aid car was not allowed on scene until after the 

initial statements were gathered. CP 230. This further supports the 

proposition that Officer Lawson was indeed treating this as an on

going emergency. 

Generally, Koslowski can easily be distinguished. In that 

case, one of the main issues noted by this court is that the 

assailants had left the scene of their own accord after restraining 

the victim with plastic restraints. Further, it is unclear how much 

time had passed from the assailant's departure and the 911 call. 

Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409. 
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The facts here are the opposite - Bustos fled from her 

assailant. he didn't leave her. Bustos either fell from or was thrown 

from a vehicle. Bustos ran from Levine to a nearby home whose 

occupants were unknown to her. Bustos told Ms. Cornelius she was 

afraid "he" was going to come up the driveway, referring to her 

assailant. Bustos was so adamant about this Ms. Cornelius posted 

somebody at the end of the road. CP 206-207. 

Levine also puts forward that because Bustos was ultimately 

determined not to need medical attention, there can be no medical 

emergency. Petitioner's Brief at 13. This too is an argument without 

merit. Aid was nearby, but not allowed to come to the actual 

location because of the possible danger involved. CP 230. Bustos's 

actual injuries were unknown at that time. She had visible cuts, 

abrasions, had been strangled, was bloody, and had exited a 

moving vehicle. There is no possible way that Officer Lawson could 

have known whether she had serious injuries. It's only necessary 

that a reasonable person would have considered there to be a 

threat of harm. State v. Reed, 168 Wash.App. at 564. 

Levine argues that because Officer Lawson's contact with 

the victim occurred "in the calm of Mr. and Mrs. Cornelius's 

protected yard", that the interview equals a formal police 
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interrogation. Petitioner's Brief at 14. First, there is no evidence 

whatsoever to support the assertion that the yard was calm and 

protected. Second, they cite to Koslowski for the proposition that 

the setting for questioning was "safe", but this assertion is without 

support. Koslowski doesn't address facts such as these. 

Kowslowski, 166 Wn.2d 409. 

To the contrary, there was neither formality nor solemnity 

when Officer Lawson contacted bleeding and hysterical Bustos, 

who had fled Levine to the property of a person unknown to her, 

with her assailant still at large, in a vehicle, and in the area. Thus, 

this argument is without merit. 

Considering that Crawford, Davis, Ohlson, Koslowski, Pugh, 

and Bryant all concern statements given in response to some form 

of interrogation, they are obviously applicable. Even though the 

statements in Reed were spontaneous, the court applied the same 

analysis, and it too should be considered. Here, Bustos's frantic 

state, her obvious fear, her fresh injuries, and the immediate nature 

and content of her initial statements to Officer Lawson demonstrate 

that these statements were made for the purpose of obtaining 

immediate assistance, and thus, they were not testimonial. 
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In sum, the trial court ruled correctly that Bustos's initial and 

preliminary statements to Officer Lawson were not testimonial, and 

hence, admissible as excited utterances despite Bustos's failure to 

testify at trial. 

E. CONCLUSION 

The trial court properly admitted non-testimonial statements 

as excited utterances, and thus, the victim's unavailability was 

immaterial and there was no violation of the confrontation clause. 

This Court should deny review and affirm the Court of Appeals.